
24 TOWN OF LEDYARD  

 CONNECTICUT  

 TOWN COUNCIL  
 
    
 

Chairman Gary St. Vil                                                            MINUTES 
PUBLIC HEARING 

LEDYARD TOWN COUNCIL  
HYBRID FORMAT 

COUNICL CHAMBERS, ANNEX BUILDING 
741 COLONEL LEDYARD HIGHWAY, LEDYARD, CONNECTICUT 

 REMOTE MEETING VIA ZOOM 
 

SNR/rm                                                                 Ledyard Town Council Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Public Hearing  
 April 21, 2025  

Page 1 of 8 

PUBLIC HEARING MINUTES    7:00 P.M., APRIL 22, 2026 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER – Chairman St. Vil  called the Public Hearing regarding the proposed 

Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Budget to order at 7:00 p.m. at the Council Chambers, Town Hall 
Annex Building, 741 Colonel Ledyard Highway, Ledyard, Connecticut.  
 
Chairman St. Vil  welcomed all to the Hybrid Meeting. He stated for the members of the 
Town Council and the Public who were participating via video conference that the remote 
meeting information was available on the Agenda that was posted on the Town’s Website 
– Granicus-Legistar Meeting Portal. 
 
 

II. PROCEDURE OF THE HEARING 
 

Chairman St. Vil announced the procedure of the Public Hearing noting that they would begin 
the Public Hearing with budget presentations from Town Council Finance Committee Chairman 
Jessica Buhle and School Superintendent Jason Hartling.  He stated a Public Comment period 
would follow.  

 
III. CALL OF THE PUBLIC HEARING 

 
Administrative Assistant Roxanne Maher read the call of the meeting as follows: 
 

LEGAL NOTICE 

TOWN OF LEDYARD 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 

The Ledyard Town Council will conduct a Public Hearing 
at 7:00 p.m. on Tuesday, April 21, 2026 

to receive comments/recommendations regarding a 
Proposed Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Budget. 

 
This Public Hearing will be Hybrid Format  

 
Please join the Public Hearing in-person or  

remotely from your computer, tablet, or smartphone as follows: 
 
 

In-person attendance will be at the  
Council Chambers, Town Hall Annex Building  

741 Colonel Ledyard Highway,  Ledyard, Connecticut 
 

Remote Attendance: Via Zoom Video Conference at: 
 

https://ledyardct.zoom.us/j/85147626223?pwd=HeFQruBjX6VoXsUXdaTtpwbO3gQKXJ.1  
 

or by audio only telephone +1 646 558 8656; Meeting ID: 851 4762 6223; Passcode: 083327  
 

Interested persons may submit  
written communications to towncouncil@ledyardct.org 

 



  
 
 
 

Ledyard Town Council Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Public Hearing 
 April 21, 2026  

Page 2 of 8 

Copies of the proposed Budget will be available on April 20, 2026 in the  
Town Clerks’ Office and on the town’s website at: 

https://www.ledyardct.org/Proposed-BOE-Budget 
https://www.ledyardct.org/proposed-annual-budget 

 
For the Ledyard Town Council 
s/s Gary St. Vil, Chairman 

Please Publish on: Saturday  April 11, 2026 
 
 

 
 

IV.  PRESENTATION OF THE PROPOSED FISCAL YEAR 2026/2027 BUDGET  
 

Town Council Finance Committee Chairman Jessica Buhle welcomed all those who were 
attending tonight’s Public Hearing both in-person and by video conference. She presented the 
following PowerPoint regarding the proposed Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Budget: 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 
 
 

Ledyard Town Council Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Public Hearing 
 April 21, 2026  

Page 3 of 8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Councilor Buhle provided a recap regarding the proposed Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Budget as 
follows: 
 

 Total Budget: $73,555,506; comprised of  
 General Government Budget $31,698,171 for a 6% increase (which included Healthcare costs 

for both the Town and Board of Education)  
 Board of Education Budget $41,857,335 for a 3.4 % increase  
 Projected Mill Rate 26.55 

 



  
 
 
 

Ledyard Town Council Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Public Hearing 
 April 21, 2026  

Page 4 of 8 

 
 
Board of Education   Proposed Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Budget  $41,857,335 

 
 
School Superintendent Jason Hartling reviewed the following PowerPoint Presentation 
regarding the Board of Education’s Proposed Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Budget in the amount of 
$41,857,335 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 
 
 

Ledyard Town Council Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Public Hearing 
 April 21, 2026  

Page 5 of 8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 
 
 

Ledyard Town Council Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Public Hearing 
 April 21, 2026  

Page 6 of 8 

Chairman St. Vil  thanked Councilor Buhle and Superintendent Hartling for their  
presentations.  
 

VI. PUBLIC COMMENTS (Please limit to 3 minutes)  
 

Chairman St. Vil opened the floor for Residents comments; and he asked that they keep their 
comments to three minutes or less. He asked  those attending  on-line to please put their name 
and address in the Chat and they would be called on in the order they were signed up.  
 
Mr. Jeff Eilenberger, 2 Village Drive, Ledyard, commented on the recording of Board of 
Education expenses on the General Government side of the Budget ledger, noting that this 
began in 2001 because there were some bookkeeping discrepancies on the Board of 
Education’s side of the budget ledger. He stated that this was not the fault of any of the 
current Central Office Staff, stating that they were not here in 2001.  
 
Mr. Eilenberger continued by reading excerpts from the Finance Committee April 7, 2025 
meeting; which was about one year ago,  as follows: 
 

“Board of Education Healthcare Expenses - Councilor Ryan stated that he agreed 
with  Mayor Allyn’s proposal to move the Board of Education Employees Healthcare 
Expenses to the Education side of the budget ledger for the following reasons: 
 
(1) The Board of Education’s Employees Healthcare Expenses were part of the 

School District’s operational costs. 
 

(2) Transparency - Councilor Ryan stated for accurate accounting of operational 
costs and for transparency Board of Education expenses should reside on the 
education side of the budget ledger. 

 
(3) Accountability - Councilor Ryan noted that the Board of Education should have 

oversight of their operational expenses.  
 
Councilor Saccone stated although he 100% agreed that the Board of Education 
Employees Healthcare Expenses and the School Nurses Expenses should be 
recorded on the education side of the budget ledger, that he did not agree with 
making the move in the upcoming Fiscal Year 2025/2026 Budget. He explained that 
because the School Nurses Contract was scheduled to end next year (fy 26/27) that 
he would suggest they wait to the following year to move these expenses to the 
education side of the budget ledger. He stated this would give the Board of 
Education and School Superintendent Hartling 18 months to evaluate their needs, so 
they could plan accordingly and for the Town Council and Board of Education to 
work together and plan for the accounting change.   
 
Finance Director Matthew Bonin explained other than moving where the Board of 
Education Employees Healthcare dollars were recorded in the budget ledger, that 
there would not be any other changes. He stated that the Board of Education was 
already handling the health insurance for their employees. He stated that the 
General Government just pays the invoices. He went on to explain that the Town 
uses a Healthcare Consultant, who was not tied to the Healthcare provider; and that 
the Healthcare Consultant was paid from the Plan.”  
 

Mr. Eilenberger stated that Finance Director Matthew Bonin was a Certified Public 
Account (CPA); and that he trusted what Mr. Bonin said. Mr. Eilenberger commented 
that a CPA, although not officially, was like a master’s degree 2.0. 
 
Mr. Eilenberger continued to read excerpts from the Finance Committee’s April 7, 2025 
Minutes as follows: 
 

“Councilor Saccone noted that based on Mr. Bonin’s explanation of how the 
Healthcare was currently being handled by both the Board of Education existing  
staff and the General Government’s staff, that he did not understand School 
Superintendent Mr. Hartling comments that moving the expenses and funds to the 



  
 
 
 

Ledyard Town Council Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Public Hearing 
 April 21, 2026  

Page 7 of 8 

education side of the budget ledger would incur additional costs for the Board of 
Education. 
 
Mr. Hartling stated by moving the Board of Education’s Employees Healthcare 
Expenses to the Education side of the ledger that they could anticipate an increased 
cost of about $100,000 to take on the fiduciary responsibility of the managing a $6 
million program, because they do not have a staffing model to handle the work that 
has been being managed by the General Government Staff for 24 years. 
 
Mr. Hartling went on to state that the Board of Education would have to hire 
Healthcare Consultants to adequately examine the Healthcare Plan to ensure that 
they were acting in the most responsible way for both their employees and the Town 
of Ledyard. He stated that there would also be the legal fees to renegotiate with their 
labor contracts; and that it would require the addition of one Full-Time Staff person 
in the Central Office. He noted that the Brown & Brown Employee Benefits 
Consulting Team was a commission based Consultant”.  
 

Mr. Eilenberger stated from last year’s discussion, in which Councilor Saccone stated if they 
began work at that time, they would have eighteen months to figure things out. Mr. 
Eilenberger stated they now had about six- months left; and he questioned how they were 
doing. He went on to state that he worked for the Department of Corrections for 20-years; and 
therefore, he got  pretty good at reading people; and at being able to understand when he was 
being threatened. He noted during that April 7, 2025 meeting the minutes reflected that 
Superintendent Hartling said the following: 
 

“Mr. Harting continued by stating that he would have to have a conversation with 
the Mayor about what would happen for the General Government Employees 
Healthcare, noting that there would be no obligation for the Board of Education to 
include the General Government Employees”.  

 
Mr. Eilenberger stated that he could read between the lines, and hopefully the Town Council 
could to. He stated that this was the kind of School Superintendent they were dealing with.  
 
Chairman St. Vil stated that he enjoyed having a dialogue and a conversation, and as a 
resident he cared about Mr. Eilenberger’s opinion. He questioned whether there was an action 
that Mr. Eilenberger would like the Town Council to consider. He stated that Mr. Eilenberger 
described something that happened in previous years, and therefore, he asked whether there 
was something that the Town Council should consider, or take under advisement, noting that 
he was trying to figure out his point. 
 
Mr. Eilenberger stated that the discussion he read were meeting minutes from eighteen 
months ago; noting that he was explaining how the conversation went when everybody was in 
the same room; noting there was no objection. He stated it was an 18-month deal and that 
somebody should have kept up with it. 
 
Chaiman St. Vil stated that he sat-in on the Budget Work Sessions this year, noting that where 
the healthcare expenses were going to reside came up as a point of discussion. He stated that 
input was provided not only by the Town Councilors, but that Mayor Allyn, III, and 
Superintendent Hartling provided input as well. He stated it was determined that the 
healthcare expenses would be something to revisit at a future date, because there was no 
known savings identified by anyone during that discussion. Therefore, he stated he was trying 
to figure out whether Mr. Eilenberger knew something that the Mayor does not know; that 
Superintendent Hartling does not know; and that the Town Council does not know, 
questioning whether there was a known savings by moving the budgetary line item. 
 
Mr. Eilenberger stated after almost 25- years that he thought the Board of Education had the 
right staff to take the healthcare over themselves.  He stated that it was more efficient, it was 
more transparent; they would be more accountable; and that was where the healthcare and 
school nurses expenses belonged.  
 
Chairman St. Vil stated that he holds Mayor Allyn, and Superintendent Hartling in high 
regard, noting throughout the budget process they have conducted themselves with nothing 
but total and complete integrity. He stated that he wanted to help Mr. Eilenberger and he 



  
 
 
 

Ledyard Town Council Fiscal Year 2026/2027 Public Hearing 
 April 21, 2026  

Page 8 of 8 

wanted to get involved, however, he stated that he did not understand his statements; and what 
he was requesting. Therefore, he stated he did not know how to get involved to help.  
 
Board of Education Chairman Jennifer Reguin, attending remotely via Zoom, stated she 
wanted to provide clarification for the public record. She stated the Superintendent's 
performance is evaluated by the Board of Education through a formal process, not at this 
hearing. She stated the Board of Education takes community feedback seriously, and they 
would address it through the appropriate channels. 

 
Chairman St. Vil  thanked the residents for their comments.  
 

VII. ADJOURNMENT  
 

Chairman St. Vil stated before they adjourn, the he would like to review of the Budget 
Process from this point forward: 
 

 Tomorrow the Finance Committee (if needed)  and Town Council will consider the comments 
received this evening to determine whether additional budget adjustments were warranted. 
 

 April 22, 2026 the Town Council would vote to Finalize a Proposed Budget to present at the 
Annual Town Meeting and Referendum. 
 

 May 18, 2026 the Annual Town Meeting will be held at 7:00 p.m. to present the proposed 
Fiscal Year 2026/2027 to Residents, at which time they would have an opportunity to provide 
additional comments. 
 

 May 19, 2026  Budget Referendum that will be held on the Voting Machines from 6:00 am 
– 8:00 p.m. The Voting Location for everyone would  be in the Registrar’s Office in the Town 
Hall Lower Level. 
 
Should the Budget Fail at the May 19, 2026 Referendum: 
 

 The Town Council would review the proposed Fiscal Year 2026/2027 to determine whether 
adjustments were warranted; and forward the Revised Budget to a Second Referendum on the 
Voting Machines on Tuesday, June 9, 2026 from 12:00 Noon to 8:00 p.m.  in accordance 
with Chapter VII, Section 6, of the Town Charter. 

 
 Should the Second Referendum not approve a budget; the Town Council shall adopt a final 

Budget by the fourth Monday in June (June 22, 2026), in accordance with Chapter VII, 
Section 6, of the Town Charter. 
 
Chairman St. Vil asked those present to please provide this information to their Friends and 
Neighbors. 
 
Chairman St. Vil stated hearing no further comments this Public Hearing is Adjourned at 7:36 
p.m.  
 
Thank you for attending tonight’s Public Hearing,  

 
_____________________________________ 

Transcribed by Roxanne M. Maher 
Administrative Assistant to the Town Council 

 
 

I, Gary ST. Vil,  Chairman of the Ledyard Town Council, 
hereby certify that the above and foregoing is a true and 

correct copy of the minutes of the Public Hearing  
Meeting held on April 21, 2026. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Gary St. Vil, Chairman 

 


